PUBLIC HEALTH, IMMIGRATION REFORM AND FOOD SYSTEM CHANGE

Claire Fitch, Carolyn Hricko, Robert Martin

Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future Department of Environmental Health & Engineering Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health



Contents

Abstract1	
Introduction2	
Background on U.S. Farmworkers4	
Health Impacts of Working in Industrial Food Production7	
Pesticide Exposure7	
Injuries10	D
Physical and Biological Hazards11	1
Air Quality12	2
Animal Waste14	4
Generation of Novel Flu Viruses1	5
Health Impacts of Working in Animal Processing Plants 10	6
Social and Mental Health Impacts of Agricultural Work 19	9
Health Impacts Extended to Families and Communities of	
Farmworkers	D
Barriers to Awareness and Improvement	5
Policy Recommendations for Reform	9
Conclusion	5
References	6

Acknowledgments

We thank the following experts in the fields of public health, food systems, labor justice, and immigration policy for reviewing drafts of this report: Deborah Berkowitz, Margaret Burke, Roni Neff, Anne Palmer, Chelly Richards, Sarah Rodman, and Virginia Ruiz. Thanks also to Michael Milli for designing the graphics included in this report.

Disclaimer: The opinions expressed herein are our own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Johns Hopkins University.

Abstract

This paper reviews the public health impacts facing agricultural and meat processing workers in the United States (U.S.)-particularly immigrant workers-and their families due to the inherent risks associated with the predominant industrial model's production protocols and system structure. The paper provides an overview of the health risks and impacts associated with agricultural labor, low wages, poor housing conditions, and other challenges typically facing agricultural and meat processing workers. It explores how immigrant workers are especially vulnerable to these impacts due to factors including fear of job loss or deportation, limited access to health care, agricultural exceptionalism in labor laws, and inadequate guest worker programs. It presents evidence to support the idea that the security and resiliency of the U.S. food system is jeopardized by the health impacts facing immigrant workers and the barriers that restrict workers from advocating for improved working conditions. It concludes with a discussion of the need for comprehensive immigration reform in order to protect workers, the U.S. food system, and the public's health and includes recommendations for the reform of immigration policies, in addition to shorter-term policy recommendations in the absence of immigration reform.

Introduction

Reform of the United States' immigration laws has been the subject of contentious debate and a policy issue since the Kennedy Administration. Such reform has direct implications for the production and processing of the U.S. food supply, which employs millions of immigrant workers. The advocacy organization Farmworker Justice estimates that 50-75% of the nation's 2 million farmworkers* are currently undocumented—lacking citizenship and temporary worker visas—and approximately 80% of farmworkers are immigrants.¹ According to the U.S. Department of Labor, hundreds of thousands more are employed in the slaughter plants and processing facilities that are an integral part of our current industrial agricultural system.²

The plight of migratory workers—many of whom are undocumented immigrants—laboring to harvest U.S. produce was significantly brought to the public's attention in November of 1960 with the release of the CBS Reports program, *Harvest of Shame*. Newspapers and magazine articles, documentaries, and news programs have continued to show the conditions under which migratory and/or undocumented workers toil and live, revealing hazards like exposure to pesticides, unsafe procedures in processing facilities, lack of access to health care, inadequate housing, and poverty.

In recent years, there has also been increasing recognition that the industrial produce and animal production and processing systems in the U.S. would collapse without the immigrant and migratory workforce. Former Secretary of Agriculture Tom Vilsack said at the Agriculture Outlook conference in 2013, "Agriculture relies to a great extent on immigrant labor, and everybody in this

^{*}In this paper, we use the terms "farmworker" and "agricultural worker" synonymously to describe people hired to work in crop and/or food animal production.

room understands and appreciates that a good deal of that labor isn't necessarily in this country legally. And that has been the case for a long time...this is a risk to agriculture, and we are beginning to see the implications of that risk."³ Agriculture industry representatives also recognize the fragility of a food system that relies on migratory labor and undocumented workers who may be here under temporary and/or unsafe circumstances; National Chicken Council President Mike Brown was quoted as saying, "We are manufacturers, wanting a stable and permanent workforce that can help sustain the rural communities where we do business."⁴

The obstacles and inefficiencies of the immigration system, which effectively prohibit many workers in the U.S. from obtaining legal work authorization and an eventual path to citizenship, contribute to agricultural and meat processing workers' increased health risks and lack of representation. In turn, these health risks and barriers to advocating for improved working conditions jeopardize the resiliency of the food system by maintaining an unstable and vulnerable workforce, which may threaten the supply and safety of food. A reformed immigration system must acknowledge immigrant workers' vital role in the U.S. food system, prioritize occupational health and safety, and enable agricultural and meat processing workers to demand fair and safe working conditions. This paper presents the public health threats facing U.S. agricultural and meat processing workers and their families, and ultimately the general U.S. population, due to the inherent risks associated with the predominant industrial model's production protocols and system structure. It also provides a review of the health effects associated with low wages, poor housing conditions, and other challenges typically facing agricultural and meat processing workers, and concludes with recommendations for the reform of immigration policies from a public health perspective.

FARMWORKERS IN THE U.S.



Background on U.S. Farmworkers

The most comprehensive information about the current U.S. crop worker population is generated by the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS)—a nationwide, random sample survey administered by the U.S. Department of Labor that collects demographic, employment, and health information from hired workers currently employed in crop and crop-related work.⁵ The NAWS includes workers in pre-harvest, harvest, and post-harvest phases of crop production and also surveys supervisors and those operating machinery and packing crops.⁵ Importantly, the NAWS does not capture crop workers with an H-2A visa (a temporary-employment visa for foreign agricultural workers) or workers in animal production and processing. While there are several limiting factors in collecting and verifying accurate, representative data on this population, the NAWS is conducted nationwide and surveys employees—on farms and in orchards, greenhouses, and nurseries—regardless of immigration status.

CROP WORKERS IN THE U.S.



Employer consent must be obtained before employees can be located and surveyed, potentially limiting surveyors' access to employees in the worst working conditions.

The most recent NAWS was conducted in 2011-2012 and surveyed 3,025 workers.⁶ Farmworker Justice analyzed the survey's data:⁷

- 48% of crop workers are not authorized to work in the US, although this estimate is probably low (many estimate that 70% or more of the workforce lacks citizenship and work authorization)^{1.8}
- 33% are U.S. citizens, 18% are lawful permanent residents, and 1% have other work authorization
- 71% are immigrants
- Of these crop workers, 95% are from Mexico, 3% from Central America, and 2% from other countries
- Spanish is the most dominant language for 70% of all crop workers
- 57% speak little (30%) or no (27%) English
- 72% are male

- 35% have been working in agriculture for more than 15 years, an additional 20% for 11-15 years
- 58% are married
- 65% of undocumented crop workers are parents, and 49% live in a household with children under 18
- The average total income is between \$15,000-17,499 (including income that some crop workers earn from jobs outsides of agriculture), and the average family's total income from crop workersis \$17,500-19,999
- 25% have a family income below the federal poverty line (does not account for dependents living outside the U.S.)

Youth constitute an important minority of agricultural workers. Minors of at least 16 years of age can perform any agricultural job, including those that require hazardous tasks (e.g., operating a tractor or a feed grinder), while minors of at least 12 years of age can be employed outside of school hours.⁹ In some cases, children as young as 10 years of age can hand-harvest crops with parental consent.⁹ The U.S. General Accounting Office^{*} estimated that between 169,000-200,000 youths in the U.S. work in migrant agricultural jobs—those which require a worker to travel so that the worker is unable to return to his/her permanent residence in the same day—though others estimate that the actual number, including undocumented youth, might be as high as 500,000.^{10,11}

While the NAWS provides the best available data on U.S. crop worker demographics, there are limitations. As Don Villarejo writes in a 2012 report, there is limited reliable health information on hired farmworkers because most are foreign-born, which presents linguistic and cultural obstacles to survey research.¹² Additional barriers include the migrant status of many workers, high annual turnover in the farm labor force, and employees' and employers' concerns regarding immigration status.¹² Notably, NAWS field interviewers must obtain permission from agricultural employers before interviewing workers, so interviews are likely not conducted with those working in the worst conditions.

The majority of the information that follows does not segment workers by nationality or legal status, but rather presents the potential and observed direct health impacts of different types of agricultural work and exposures. See *Barriers to Awareness and Improvement* (page 25) for a discussion of the additional disparities and obstacles to health care and representation facing immigrant and/or undocumented workers.

^{*} The U.S. General Accounting Office was renamed the U.S. Government Accountability Office in 2007.



Health Impacts of Working in Industrial Food Production

This section presents evidence on the health risks and impacts associated with employment in industrial food production settings, such as fruit and vegetable fields and food animal operations.

Pesticide Exposure

Pesticides—including herbicides, insecticides, and fungicides—are substances that are used to prevent or destroy organisms that are harmful to crops. In 2008, herbicides accounted for 76% of pounds of pesticides applied by U.S. farmers, while fungicides accounted for 7% and insecticides accounted for 6%.¹³

Acute and chronic pesticide exposure has been associated with various health hazards, including respiratory and skin conditions and the development of certain cancers, neurologic and reproductive disorders, and cardiac, liver, and kidney conditions.¹⁴⁻²¹ Epidemiological studies have found associations between pesticide exposure and multiple forms of cancer, including non-Hodgkin lymphoma, lung, prostate, breast, brain, colorectal, testicular, pancreatic, esophageal, stomach, and skin cancers.²²⁻²⁴ Several childhood cancers have also been associated with both environmental and parental occupational exposure (during and after pregnancy) to pesticides.²⁵ Additional health effects from chronic exposures to pesticides include Alzheimer and Parkinson's diseases, multiple sclerosis, aging, and cardiovascular and kidney disease.²⁶ Other recent studies show a link between pesticide exposure sure and chronic health effects such as obesity and diabetes,²⁷ hearing loss,²⁸



and non-malignant respiratory diseases.²⁹ Exposure has been linked to higher rates of infertility and miscarriage, birth defects, and adverse effects on development, including poor cognition and behavioral and motor outcomes.^{26,30}

Despite recent reductions in overall pesticide use and changes in the types of pesticides used,¹³ U.S. crop production is still largely dependent on pesticides. Organic products—produced without the use of pesticides—only account for about 4% of total U.S. food sales (including animal products and beverages), and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) latest estimate of total annual U.S. pesticide use was 1.1 billion pounds.^{31,32} The EPA also estimates that there are between 1,800 and 3,000 preventable pesticide poisonings of workers every year and acknowledges that this is likely an underestimation due to widespread underreporting.³³

Underreporting of pesticide exposure and illness can result from crop workers not seeking healthcare or consulting healthcare providers outside the jurisdiction of surveillance programs (or outside of the U.S.), the misdiagnosis of pesticide poisoning by healthcare providers, or providers' neglect of legal requirements to report cases of pesticide-related illness to the appropriate surveillance programs and health officers.^{14,34} Perhaps the most important barrier to quantification is that low-level exposures can take decades to manifest as illnesses; when they do, it can be almost impossible to definitively trace illnesses back to pesticide exposures.

Despite these barriers to accurately estimating pesticide exposure, crop workers are considered to be at risk for pesticide-related illness.¹⁴ NAWS data illustrate factors that may further increase immigrant crop workers' risk of pesticide exposure and related illness, such as language barriers that may inhibit workers' ability to understand educational materials and trainings on safe pesticide use.¹⁴ The pace of migration to other farms and a lack of adequate training on pesticide use in each setting may further contribute to crop workers' risk of unsafe pesticide exposure.¹⁴ Poverty, a lack of access to health care, and a fear among undocumented workers of seeking healthcare—due to employer retaliation or risk of deportation—are broader factors that also contribute to the underreporting of pesticide-related illness.¹⁴ A lack of strong worker protections and workplace power may further discourage workers from raising health and safety concerns, refusing unsafe conditions and hazardous roles, or requesting personal protective equipment, potentially contributing to an increased risk of pesticide-related illness. The Pesticide Illness Surveillance Program (PISP) of the California Department of Pesticide Regulation provides a snapshot of the incidence and causes of pesticide-related illnesses among crop workers in California, although it likely underestimates the actual number of cases for reasons previously discussed. According to PISP data, agricultural use of pesticides was the source of exposure in 239 of the 1,067 reported cases in 2011, and 137 fieldworkers were injured as a result of pesticide exposure in California.³⁵

The California Department of Health Services' surveillance program found that over a 2-year period (1998-1999), 54% of the 1,156 cases of occupational pesticide-related illnesses in California were attributed to the agriculture industry.¹⁴ Among farmworkers, 20% of pesticide illnesses were caused by cholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides (organophosphates and N-methyl carbamates), 14% by inorganic compounds, 8% by pyrethroids, and 5% by organochlorines.¹⁴ "Routine activity"—working in the fields, without mixing or loading pesticides—was listed as the cause for 64% of the cases of pesticide-related illness, and the application of pesticides was responsible for 24% of cases.¹⁴ Illnesses most commonly involved the dermatologic system (44%), the ocular system (33%), the nervous system (39%), the gastrointestinal system (38%), and the respiratory system (24%).¹⁴

An analysis using data from the California Department of Pesticide Regulation and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Sentinel Event Notification System for Occupational Risks (SENSOR) national pesticide database program offers an estimate of the percentage of acute pesticide poisoning cases in California that are attributed to agricultural work.³⁴ This analysis found that over the 17-year period, 2,334 (71%) cases of the 3,271 total cases of acute pesticide poisoning in California were people employed as farmworkers, and the remaining cases were miscellaneous agricultural workers, food processing workers, and farmers.³⁴ This study also found that the rate of acute pesticide poisoning was almost twice as high for female agricultural workers than for male workers.³⁴

In 2015, the EPA published revisions to their Worker Protection Standards ³³ to strengthen protections for farmworkers at risk of exposure to pesticides. These revisions, effective January 2, 2017, require annual training for farmworkers on the required protections afforded to them, prohibit anyone under 18 from handling pesticides, and prevent employers from retaliating against employees who report violations, among other measures.

For a discussion of pesticide exposures among children and families of farmworkers, see *Health Impacts Extended to Families and Communities of Farmworkers* (page 20).

Injuries



Production agriculture involves labor, the use of machinery, and exposure to other hazards that can place workers at risk of musculoskeletal damage, injury, and even death. In 2013, the agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting sector reported the highest fatality rate of any industry sector at 22.2 per 100,000 full time employees.³⁶ The CDC's National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) provides the most current and comprehensive U.S. agricultural safety statistics³⁷:

- In 2012, 374 farmers and agricultural workers died from a work-related injury (tractor overturns were the leading cause of death)
- On average, 113 persons less than 20 years of age die annually from farm-related injuries
- Every day, 167 agricultural workers are injured to the extent that they become at least temporarily unable to work (5% of these injuries result in permanent impairment)
- In 2012, 14,000 youth were injured on farms (2,700 of these were due to farm work)

The major contributing factors in agricultural injury in animal production and processing include machinery, animals, and falls.³⁸ Aquaculture—involving the rearing of aquatic animals for food—workers in the U.S., including inland, near-, and offshore workers, also suffer elevated rates of non-fatal injuries and face risks of musculoskeletal injuries, needle-stick injuries, diving risks (including decompression illness and drowning), extreme temperatures, and falls from boats and cages.^{39,40,*}

In a survey of youth agricultural workers in North Carolina, only 40% reported they were regularly made aware of dangerous work practices or conditions, 40% reported receiving instructions on safety when hired, 32% reported that proper safety equipment was always available, and 23% believed the possibility of being injured at work in the next year was very likely.⁴¹

[•] Importantly, offshore aquaculture operations may be exempt from Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) inspections and safety regulations depending on the size and location of the vessel and the number of employees.³⁹ As OSHA has not focused on occupational safety issues offshore (partly because the U.S. offshore aquaculture industry is nascent),³⁹ even aquaculture operations that are not exempt may not yet be adequately inspected or regulated by the administration. See *Policy Recommendations for Reform* (page 29) for further discussion of OSHA limitations.

Language barriers may play a significant role in the delivery and receipt of safety information, as employers may believe they are providing adequate instructions but the information may not be sufficiently available or comprehensible to employees.

There is evidence that injury and illness rates may be underestimated or incorrectly communicated to the public. A recent study attempted to quantify the U.S. government's underestimation of job-related injuries and illnesses in agriculture and calculated that as many as 77% of agricultural worker injuries-74% in crop production and 82% in animal production-may have been missed.⁴² Potential underestimation may stem from the data collection methods used by the U.S. government's source for workplace injuries and illnesses, the Bureau of Labor Statistics Survey of Occupational Injuries and Illnesses (SOII). Notably, the SOII does not include workers on small farms (with fewer than 11 non-family employees) or self-employed farmers and acknowledges an underestimation of the number of total agricultural workers given the nature of agricultural work.⁴² Extending SOII injury and illness rates to self-employed farmers and workers on farms with fewer than 11 employees, and adjusting for underreporting due to willfulness and negligence, the study estimates that there were a total of 143,436 cases of injury and illness among agricultural workers in 2011.42

Physical and Biological Hazards

In addition to injuries from equipment, workers can suffer from extreme heat, cold, and other environmental factors. Between 1992 and 2006, there were a total of 68 reported deaths of crop workers from heat stress.⁴³ As crop workers are typically performing strenuous labor outdoors with limited breaks and access to potable water, they have a high incidence of heat stroke, heat exhaustion, and heat cramps.⁴⁴ Agricultural workers are 4 times more likely than non-agricultural workers to experience heat-related illness.⁴⁴

While there are few data on incidences of injuries or illnesses among agricultural workers related to other biological exposures, NIOSH recognizes lightning, noise, ultraviolet radiation, poisonous plants, venomous wildlife and insects, and mosquito- and tick-borne diseases as additional hazards facing workers in production agriculture.⁴⁵

Typical farm work activities—such as stooping/bending, driving farm equipment, kneeling, crawling, and performing repetitive motions—may also con-



tribute to chronic musculoskeletal problems, which develop from repeated exposure to a stressor.⁴⁶ A 2014 study of the association between agricultural work and chronic pain among Latino agricultural workers in California found that chronic musculoskeletal pain is prevalent among agricultural workers and is influenced by work positions.⁴⁷ Workers have most commonly reported back, knee, foot, and hand pain⁴⁸; in one study, workers' 12-month period prevalence of musculoskeletal pain was 37.5% for low back pain, and around 25% for shoulder, knee, and neck pain.⁴⁹

Sanitation measures and access to potable water in work settings are important public health measures, as they contribute to individual workers' health and limit the spread of illness to the larger community. These measures have notably improved since the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) began prioritizing field sanitation enforcement and education in the mid-1990's.¹² Still, some workers report lacking sanitation facilities. In the 2005-2006 NAWS interviews (which have known limitations), 91% reported that drinking water was provided every day, 95% said their employer provided a field toilet every day, and 96% said hand washing facilities were provided every day.¹² These rates indicate improvement from the 1999 NAWS survey results and demonstrate that it is possible to improve conditions with pressure from OSHA,¹² though they still merit continued and increased enforcement of regulations to ensure that all workers have adequate access to sanitation and clean drinking water.

Air Quality



Agricultural and meat processing workers in both crop and animal production are routinely exposed to air that is polluted with particulate matter, volatile organic compounds, harmful bacteria, toxins, odorous compounds, and other potential health hazards.⁵⁰ The level and duration of exposure varies by occupation and location—for example, workers in industrial dairy operations would face different risks related to air quality than those in almond orchards.^{51,52} Unique air quality factors in each setting, coupled with the fast pace of migration to different agricultural jobs and the likelihood that workers are exposed to multiple agents, make it difficult to characterize individual workers' cumulative risk of health problems related to poor air quality.

Field workers can be exposed to natural (i.e., dust, soil, clay, sand) and synthetic (i.e., certain fertilizers) agents that become airborne as inhalable particulate matter. As the application of untreated animal waste to fields has been shown to result in the presence of enteric pathogens in fields,⁵³ field workers are also presumably exposed to pathogens through contact with fields where waste has been applied as fertilizer. *Salmonella* introduced by contaminated poultry or cow manure has been shown to survive in soil for up to 230 days,⁵⁴ potentially placing field workers at risk of contracting infections long after manure application. In California, where 50% of U.S. fruit, vegetable, and nut production occurs,⁵¹ studies have shown that workers have decreased respiratory function and increased respiratory symptoms, such as chronic cough, wheeze, and increased mortality rates from chronic pulmonary disease.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁸ Agricultural workers have also been found to be at increased risk of developing organic dust toxic syndrome (a febrile illness following inhalation exposure to dust), exacerbation or onset of asthma-like symptoms, and pneumoconiosis (black lung disease).⁵⁹⁻⁶²

Workers in animal production are exposed to various airborne pollutants while working in and around animal housing structures, including elevated concentrations of particulate matter, endotoxins, pathogens, pharmaceuticals, gases, and other health hazards.^{60,62,63} Exposure to endotoxins and particulate matter is associated with various respiratory symptoms, including decreased respiratory function, chronic bronchitis, asthma-like symptoms, and chest tightness.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶ Harmful bacteria—such as *Campylobacter* and *Staphylococcus aureus* and antibiotic- and multi-drug resistant bacteria—can contaminate both the air inside of animal houses and the surrounding environment via ventilation systems.^{63,67-69}

In a study among workers in broiler chicken operations on the Delmarva Peninsula, workers were found to have 32 times the odds of carrying gentamicin-resistant *E. coli* compared with other residents in the community.⁷⁰ In North Carolina, swine operation workers were found to carry livestock-associated, multidrug-resistant and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in their noses over a 14-day period and after up to 96 hours away from work.⁷¹ A carrier, despite having no noticeable signs or symptoms of infection, is capable of transmitting a pathogen to others. This can result in pathogen transmission since the carrier will not engage in any special precautionary measures to prevent the spread of infection without its detection.⁷² Additionally, antimicrobials have been detected in dust samples from swine operations,⁷³ suggesting that workers may inhale antimicrobials and other drugs used in animal production while on or near farms.⁷³ Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and gases such as hydrogen sulfide and ammonia, which are released from the decomposition of manure and other materials typically present in animal operations, have also been associated with various adverse health outcomes including respiratory problems, neuropsychological symptoms, headache, and nasal, throat, and eye irritation.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ A 2010 U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) study measured volatile organic compounds (VOCs) inside industrial broiler chicken operations and found that VOCs included acetic acid, 2,3-butanedione, methanol, acetone, and ethanol ⁷⁷; these compounds are associated with eye, skin, nose, throat, and dental irritation, dizziness, nausea, and other health problems.⁷⁸⁻⁸¹ Odors originating from these substances are associated with similar health effects and have been shown to interfere more broadly with daily activities, quality of life, social gatherings, and community cohesion.^{50,82,83}

Animal Waste



Animal waste naturally contains nutrients and bacteria and can also contain drug residues, heavy metals, and antibiotic-resistant bacteria that are associated with adverse human health outcomes.⁸⁴⁻⁸⁷ Although crop workers can be at risk for these effects through contact with animal waste that is spread on fields, most research focuses on workers in animal production operations who are routinely near or in contact with manure.

Animal waste disposal has changed dramatically with the industrialization of food systems and the concentration and confinement of food animals. With an estimated 314 million metric tons of animal waste generated on U.S. farms each year⁶³ and the concentration of animals to geographic areas too small for the land to naturally absorb wastes,⁸⁵ many animal production operations, particularly large swine and dairy operations, now rely on water-based slurry systems that flush manure from the floors of animal houses into large storage ponds (often called lagoons).⁸⁵ Workers in animal production facilities can experience health effects from inhaling airborne waste particles in or around animal houses (as discussed above), or through direct contact when removing waste from animal houses or transporting or spreading manure.^{63,88} Bacterial decomposition of manure results in the production of gases (e.g., hydrogen sulfide, ammonia, carbon dioxide, and methane) that, when confined under manure storage pits or in outdoor storage ponds, can reach acute toxicity levels that are considered "immediately dangerous to life and health" and constitute an occupational health risk.89

Manure contains a host of potentially harmful bacteria and substances, regardless of the animal species. Several types of bacteria commonly found

in manure—including Salmonella spp., Campylobacter spp., Listeria monocytogenes, and E. coli O157:H7—have been implicated in disease outbreaks in which the pathogen was thought to have originated from animal operations⁹⁰; these pathogens could place workers in such operations at greater risk of bacteria colonization and associated illness. The use of antimicrobials in animal feed has been found to contribute to the emergence and spread of antibiotic-resistant bacteria; as discussed earlier, studies have shown that workers in animal production have a greater risk of contracting antimicrobial-resistant infections than the general U.S. population.^{70,91,92}

Though there are few data on health effects related to workers' exposure to hormones, heavy metals, and other pharmaceuticals present in manure, there are concentrated releases of hormones, heavy metals, and nutrients to the environment where manure is stored and applied.⁸⁸ Presumably, workers who are near or in contact with manure have an increased risk of health effects associated with exposure to harmful nutrients and these compounds, which are added to animal feed for non-therapeutic purposes. Future studies should aim to characterize the risk workers face related to exposure to feed additives through contact with animal wastes.

Generation of Novel Flu Viruses

The generation of novel flu viruses may also be a threat to industrial food animal production workers. In 2008, The Pew Commission on Industrial Farm Animal Production final report cited a serious public health concern with the industrial production model and its role in the generation and spread of novel flu viruses.⁹³ It stated, "the continual cycling of viruses…increases opportunities for the generation of novel viruses through mutation or recombinant events that could result in more efficient human-to-human transmission," and further noted that agricultural workers are the bridging population between large animal facilities and their communities.⁹³ Further, studies suggest that the presence of concentrated swine feeding operations in a community amplify the transmission of influenza when a novel influenza virus is circulating.^{94,95}



DANGER Hazardous Chemicals

Health Impacts of Working in Animal Processing Plants

Animal processing plants are designed for rapid slaughtering, cleaning, butchering, and packaging of animal products. In assembly-line style, modern processing entails rapid line speed and clear divisions of labor on the processing line.96 A 2005 report from the Government Accountability Office found that the largest proportion of workers in the meat and poultry industry are young and Hispanic.⁹⁷ A 2016 update to the report found that 28.7 percent of meat and poultry workers are foreign-born noncitizens.⁹⁸ The report highlights the unsafe conditions often found in processing plants, involving loud noise, sharp tools, exposure to chemicals, fast-paced, repetitive, and forceful tasks, and hazardous machinery. It describes typical tasks and conditions, such as standing for long periods of time while using knives and hooks to slaughter and butcher meat on fast-moving production lines, and using strong chemicals and hot pressurized water to clean areas of the plants.⁹⁷ According to the report, the most common injuries in processing plants are cuts, strains, cumulative trauma, and injuries sustained from falls; it also acknowledges that more serious injuries, like fractures and amputation, also occur.97

Worker injuries and illnesses in processing plants can result from the physical demands and repetitive nature of tasks, worker contact with animal wastes and other organic substances on the processing line, a damp climate inside the processing plants, and the use of sharp equipment.⁹⁹ Data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics show that the combined rate of illnesses and injuries among workers in animal production was nearly double the national average in 2013,¹⁰⁰ and the rate of illnesses for workers in animal processing alone was almost 9 times the national average.¹⁰¹ Given the potential language barriers and fear of job loss or deportation,¹⁰² the reported rates of illnesses and injuries in the poultry industry—the largest and fastest growing sector of the U.S. meat products industry, in pounds produced and number of workers—are thought to be gross underestimations of actual rates, with as many as two-thirds of injuries never reported.¹⁰³

A survey of poultry processing workers in Alabama found that 17% of workers in secondary processing (which involves de-boning, cutting, and trimming) have suffered serious cuts that required medical attention.¹⁰⁴ The Assistant Secretary of Labor for OSHA has stated, "musculoskeletal injuries caused by these hazards in poultry plants are too common."105 OSHA recently fined a poultry processing facility in Ohio \$861,500 after it found amputation hazards, a lack of personal protective equipment, violations of electrical safety standards, wet work surfaces, and other hazards.¹⁰⁶ In August 2016, OSHA also fined Tyson Foods \$263,500 month for violations after an amputation investigation exposed chemical, fire, and fall hazards, with a total of 15 serious and 2 repeated violations at a chicken processing facility in Texas.¹⁰⁷ OSHA also recently cited Pilgrim's Pride—one of the largest U.S. poultry companies—for routinely delaying medical care to its injured employees, marking the first citation of this kind.¹⁰⁸ OSHA officials have called on poultry plant operating companies to address the combination of musculoskeletal disorder hazards, lack of proper medical treatment for musculoskeletal disorders and other serious injuries, and underreporting of injuries at other plants,¹⁰⁵ highlighting the recurrence of worker safety issues in processing facilities.

It is believed that there is high worker exploitation in the poultry industry and perhaps in the rest of the meat industry—due to the high Latino and foreign-born composition of the processing workforce.¹⁰⁹ In the 1980's and 1990's, poultry processing plants concentrated in rural areas in the Southeast and Midwest to reduce labor costs,¹¹⁰ spurring the migration of large populations of workers to these areas. Particularly in the rural Southeast, there is limited unionization, a lack of social services in place for the protection of workers' rights, and few employment alternatives.^{102,111} The percentage of poultry processing workers that were represented by a union fell from 46% to 21% during the 1980's alone, and remains low today.¹⁰⁴

While there may be inherent risk involved in meat and poultry processing, the current predominant industrial food system may place workers at an unnecessarily high risk of injury and illness. The rapid speed of production lines, which can process tens of thousands of animals daily, has been reported to increase workers' risk of cuts and lacerations.¹⁰⁴ Workers frequently experience bacterial infections of these cuts and lacerations (from *Staphylococci*, *Streptococci*, *Mycobacterium* spp., *Campylobacter*, and *Bacillus anthracis*, among others), and the presence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria on industrially produced animals, coupled with the high prevalence of open skin wounds on workers, may result in an increase in workers' risk of developing a resistant infection and associated illness.^{92,112-114}

In 2007, another risk of working in processing plants was discovered when 10 workers in a Minnesota swine processing facility experienced chronic numbness, tingling, and limb weakness after working the "head-table," where skin, skeletal muscle, and brain matter were removed from severed swine heads using compressed air, which aerosolizes the matter.¹¹⁵ The brain matter is typically exported to countries where there is a higher culinary demand for it. The CDC investigated and determined that these workers had developed sensory predominant, immune-mediated polyradiculoneuropathy (IP)¹¹⁵—in this case, an autoimmune reaction after exposure to aerosolized brain matter, possibly because of the similarities between the nervous tissues of swine and humans.¹¹⁶ While the process of cleaning swine heads with compressed air has discontinued, these cases demonstrate the potential for unanticipated occupational dangers in animal processing facilities.



Social and Mental Health Impacts of Agricultural Work

Low income, limited education, lack of medical care, poor working conditions, substandard housing, and frequent migration may contribute to high rates of economic pressure, acculturative stress, psychological distress, substance abuse, depression and suicide among agricultural workers.^{117,118} Studies have found prevalence rates of food insecurity—an indicator of economic hardship—as high as 82% among migrant and seasonal workers' households. ^{119,120} Food insecurity among children has been found to have psychological consequences, including depression, anxiety, hyperactivity, and inattention.¹²¹ The prevalence of depressive symptoms is also generally higher among farmworkers, with 40% of farmworkers in North Carolina and the upper Midwest and 38% of Mexican-American farmworkers in the Ohio/Michigan area reporting clinically significant levels of depressive symptoms.^{122,123} Mexican-American farmworkers in the mid-west were also found to have a higher risk for depression than the general population.¹¹⁷ Separation from family is common among migrant and/or undocumented workers, which may further increase the risk for depression. Studies suggest that women in farmworker families are also at increased risk for depression, which may put their children's mental health at risk.121,124



Health Impacts Extended to Families and Communities of Farmworkers

The adverse health effects and risks associated with working in U.S. food production and processing systems may follow workers to their homes and communities. The majority of undocumented farmworkers are married and have children (though their family members may not live with them or in the U.S.), and 49% live in households with children under the age of 18.⁷ Moreover, the majority of migrant, seasonal, and immigrant farmworkers stay or live immediately within agricultural areas, either in on-farm dwellings or labor camps, or in private market single-family houses or apartments.¹²

While the risk of workplace injury may not transfer to the families or peers of agricultural and meat processing workers, these populations may face other health hazards related to the agriculture industry, including pesticide exposure, poor air quality, contaminated water, and increased pathogen presence.

Children living in agricultural communities are especially susceptible to pesticide exposure and have an increased risk of exposure to environmental contaminants, as compared to adults, due to their physiology and behavior (e.g. crawling and putting objects in the mouth).¹²⁵⁻¹²⁷ Multiple studies, conducted across various U.S. agricultural regions, have detected pesticide metabolites in the urine of children of farmworker households.¹²⁶⁻¹³⁰ Exposure to organophosphorus pesticides—detected in the urine of pregnant women and children living in agricultural communities¹³⁰—has been associated with decreased mental development and attention deficits.^{131,132} A 2012 study found an inverse association between birth weight and the number of pesticides detected in cord blood, leading to calls for more research on the effects of exposure to mixtures of multiple pesticides in addition to individual pesticides.¹³³

Residents of agricultural areas may also be exposed to air and water contaminated by agricultural inputs and wastes. Just as workers may be exposed to particulate matter, gases, VOCs, pathogens, and pesticides via air, people living near farms and/or animal production operations are also exposed to agricultural air pollution and may experience health impacts similar to those observed among workers. 62,134-136 Odor from animal production operations has been found to induce eye, nose, and throat irritation, trigger nausea, vomiting, headaches, stress, and negative mood, and disrupt nearby residents' daily activities.¹³⁶ Often, animal production is concentrated in rural, low-income areas; swine feeding operations, for example, are located disproportionately in low-income communities of color,¹³⁷ and researchers have predicted that a fear of reprisals—in areas where employment options are limited—may discourage residents from reporting malodor or related health concerns to their representative officials.¹³⁸ Harmful nutrients, drug residues, pathogens, and other contaminants from crop fields and animal operations can run off into surface water or leach into groundwater,¹³⁹ putting those who rely on those water sources at risk. Environmental inequities have been observed in drinking water quality, with higher nitrate levels found in community water systems that serve areas in which a larger percentage of the population is Latino and homeownership rates are lower.¹⁴⁰ Residents of agricultural areas and workers presumably face a similar level of risk associated with water contamination by manure and agricultural wastes, since exposure to contaminated drinking and/or recreational water often happens near the farm, though workers may face less or varying exposure depending on whether they live near the farm and if they are traveling from farm to farm.

Families and nearby residents of agricultural workers may also face a greater risk of contracting an antimicrobial-resistant infection, as workers in animal production have been found to have a greater risk of carrying antimicrobial-resistant bacteria than the general population,⁷⁰ and studies have suggested that workers may transport resistant bacteria out of the workplace to their families and communities.^{70,141}

There has been a documented shift in farm labor housing in recent years, with fewer employers offering on-farm housing or labor camps and more workers seeking private market housing, which is not subject to federal regulation.¹² Poor housing conditions in agricultural areas may place children and families

of farmworkers at increased risk of certain health problems, and the housing environments in which people live early in life may have long-term negative health effects.¹⁴² Many farmworker households are located near agricultural fields, and pesticide drift and residues have been documented in these homes; since children live in the majority of these households, they are thought to be at risk of pesticide-related illness and developmental disorders.^{127,130} Crowded living conditions have also been found to increase residents' exposure to environmental toxicants and communicable disease.¹⁴³

The California Agricultural Workers Health Study found that overcrowding is common in farm labor housing and that extremely overcrowded conditions are prevalent when multiple families share an apartment or house (41% of male participants and 31% of female participants in the survey reported sharing housing with unrelated persons).¹⁴⁴ While the majority of participants reported renting, 11% lived in informal dwellings—a place of residence not recognized by the U.S. Postal Service or county tax assessors—including mobile homes, garages, sheds, abandoned equipment or animal facilities, or cars.¹⁴⁵ As the authors of a review of housing characteristics of farmworker families in North Carolina concluded, "Farmworker housing is generally characterized as crowded, in disrepair, lacking basic facilities (e.g., indoor plumbing) and appliances (e.g., washing machines, fully functioning stovetops), located near fields in which pesticides are applied, and costly."¹⁴⁵

Sanitation issues have been documented in both employer-provided and private housing. In many cases, there are no laundry facilities, ventilation is poor, and plumbing is inadequate or nonexistent.⁴⁴ This means that contaminated clothing worn at work may be washed in the same sink or basin in which food is prepared, or in the bathtub where children are bathed.⁴⁴ And when agricultural workers cannot find or afford housing, they may resort to sleeping outdoors or in tents or cars.⁴⁴ These private housing situations may be hidden from public view or government officials, so it is difficult to assess the sanitation risks facing workers and their families. Aware of these issues, the Department of Labor announced in July 2016 that it would provide \$81 million in grants through the National Farmworker Jobs Program to assist migrant and seasonal farmworkers with training, employment, and housing.¹⁴⁶

Poor worker health and hygiene are frequently linked to foodborne outbreaks, as reflected in food safety policy and discussions. But worker health and hygiene are also subject to social determinants of health and influenced by workers' limited economic resources, which may lead to increased vulnerability to disease.¹⁴⁷ Recent research has called for a shift in the food safety narrative to address the broader social and structural factors influencing worker health and hygiene.¹⁴⁷ Efforts to address food safety through improved worker health must not only focus on increasing workers' education of health and hygiene practices, but must also confront the socioeconomic factors and poor and unsafe working and housing conditions that may lead to food safety concerns in the workplace.

Poor working and living conditions for undocumented, immigrant agricultural workers have been found to cross the line into slavery and human trafficking. Investigations by the Coalition of Immokalee Workers (CIW) have found workers in conditions that meet the definition of slavery under federal law; workers have reportedly been forced to live in box trucks, have been found with their arms chained, and have shown signs of physical abuse.¹⁴⁸ The Civil Rights Division of the U.S. Department of Justice has invoked the Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act to prosecute employers for recruiting, harboring, transporting, or obtaining a worker for labor through the use of force, fraud, or coercion.¹⁴⁸ While not all poor working and living conditions constitute a violation of human rights, it is important to recognize the occurrence of such violations in the U.S. and to employ the necessary preventive and judicial measures to protect workers' rights and safety.

U.S. citizens, legal permanent residents, foreign nationals with temporary work visas and undocumented immigrants are all vulnerable to labor trafficking in the agricultural sector, 149,150 but a report prepared for the National Institute of Justice found that a worker's lack of legal status has been identified as the strongest and most consistent predictor of experiencing trafficking and other violations.¹⁵¹ Labor exploitation and abuse, while a frequent and significant problem for agricultural and meat processing workers, does not always represent a case of human trafficking.¹⁵² It is only when employers exert control over workers through coercion, fraud, and force-convincing workers that they are bound to their situation without means of escape or the ability to choose other options—that human trafficking is established.^{149,152} Agricultural workers are particularly vulnerable to labor trafficking and exploitation due to the isolated conditions of agricultural work, and the exclusion of migrant and seasonal workers from labor laws.^{149,150,152} In addition, the seasonality and temporary nature of farm labor results in a high turnover of workers, leading agricultural workers to frequently move between jobs and thereby increasing their exposure to traffickers.¹⁴⁹ Isolated, temporary labor situations also prevent agricultural workers from assimilating into local communities, limiting their access to social services and support networks, and their understanding of local laws and labor rights.¹⁵²

Some of the coercive tactics used in human trafficking include threatening the victim and their family members with harm, trapping victims through debt bondage, and confiscation of passports and visas.¹⁴⁹ Employers may also purposely deceive workers and lie about the conditions of the work and their intentions. They may also redefine the terms of contracts, withhold wages, and charge extortionate recruitment fees for what turns out to be low wage or unpaid work.^{149,150} Employers often exert control over victims by prohibiting the movement of farmworkers and their communication with the outside world, which is very effective given the isolated nature of rural farm work.^{149,150} In addition, workers who are undocumented or have temporary immigration status are less likely to report abuses and trafficking activities to law enforcement, and less likely to seek out and utilize assistance programs.¹⁵⁰ Physical and/or sexual abuse is also frequently used as a tactic to force workers to comply with the employer demands.¹⁴⁹ One study found that more than 60% of surveyed female farmworkers had experienced sexual harassment.¹⁵³ The New York Times reported that an immigrant farmworker in Iowa told her lawyer, "We though it was normal in the United States that in order to keep your job, you had to have sex."¹⁵⁴ Several barriers prevent sexually harassed farmworkers from filing complaints, including a lack of Equal Employment Opportunity Commission offices in rural areas (and limited hours and Spanish-speaking staff in these offices), a requirement by government agencies that complaints must be filed online, and discouragement from the fact that sexual harassment investigations can last for months or years.¹⁵⁴

"The dire situation faced by farmworkers stems from their lack of economic and political power."

Barriers to Awareness and Improvement

There are additional challenges to adequate representation, healthcare access, and legal protection for immigrant, rural, and/or undocumented agricultural and meat processing worker populations. Testifying before the U.S. Senate in 2008, Mary Bauer of the Southern Poverty Law Center said, "The dire situation faced by farmworkers stems from their lack of economic and political power. Because farmworkers have no measurable political influence, there has been little organized opposition to the efforts of agribusiness interests to deny farmworkers most of the legal protections other American workers take for granted."155 Lacking the right to vote, undocumented workers presumably have difficulty finding elected representatives who will advocate for their fair treatment and protection. There are several examples of "agricultural exceptionalism" in the law whereby agricultural labor is not subject to the same regulations as the labor in other industries: farmworkers are not covered by workers' compensation in many states; farmworkers are typically not entitled to overtime pay under federal law; youth agricultural workers are exempt from the child labor provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act; and farmworkers are not covered by the National Labor Relations Act, effectively eliminating their rights to collective bargaining.¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸ Migrant and seasonal workers, who make up 42% of the farm labor workforce, face these same exclusions from labor laws and regulations.^{149,150,159} Without the ability to collectively bargain, workers have no means of organizing and negotiating for better wages or safer working conditions; employers can continue to provide unlivable wages and poor working conditions without any threat of opposition from their employees. The exclusion of immigrant, migrant and seasonal workers from labor laws increases their susceptibility to the tactics of human trafficking, and even creates the conditions for exploitation to develop. The combination of low wages, requirements for workers to buy food and basic goods at inflated rates, and refusal by the farm to reimburse workers for exorbitant recruitment fees can exacerbate and lead to situations of debt bondage.¹⁵⁰

Immigrant workers can be further marginalized by a lack of work authorization, which may prevent workers, their families, and agricultural communities from seeking improved working conditions and stronger enforcement of health and safety regulations for fear of job loss, retaliatory violence, or deportation.^{14,137,160,161} These unauthorized and undocumented foreign national workers, who have comprised about 50% of the farm labor workforce since 2001,^{150,159,162} have high levels of vulnerability due to their lack of familiarity with local customs and laws, language gaps, and high susceptibility to coercion through threats of deportation.¹⁴⁹ Employers may also threaten authorized foreign workers with deportation in retaliation for reporting or complaining about poor work conditions or human rights violations. Additional threats include adding workers to lists preventing their future hire and job prospects, which is often too great a risk for workers who depend on their employers for housing, food, transportation and more for their entire families, not to mention their visas and legal working status.¹⁵⁰ Additionally, undocumented workers are not able to apply for or receive assistance through certain state and federal programs (e.g., the U.S. Department of Agriculture-Rural Housing Service program, which provides affordable housing to households where at least one household member earns a substantial portion of their income as farm laborers).¹⁶³

Immigrant workers often lack adequate access to health care due to physical, financial, and cultural/linguistic barriers. In one survey, 32% of male farmworkers and 12% of female farmworkers had never been to a doctor or clinic, and 18% of those who had sought medical care had done so in Mexico.⁴⁸ Workers may not seek medical care because of a lack of transportation or health insurance, language barriers, cost of care, clinic hours that conflict with working hours, and a fast pace of migration to other locales.⁴⁸ The Affordable Care Act may further exclude certain agricultural and meat processing workers from obtaining health insurance, as temporary and undocumented workers are excluded from the subsidies available to all others.²¹ This limited access to health care may contribute to the underreporting and lack of awareness of work related injuries, illnesses, and conditions of exploitation and abuse.

Guest worker programs have been the focus of much of the debate concerning immigrant workers in agricultural jobs. The H-2A Temporary Agricultural Workers Visa—an example of a guest worker program—allows foreign workers to come to the U.S. if an employer can offer a job that is temporary or seasonal and demonstrate that there are no U.S. workers who are able to take the job.¹⁶⁴ The program is intended to fill agricultural jobs in the U.S. in areas and job settings experiencing labor shortages. It is not supposed to negatively affect the wages or working conditions of similarly employed U.S. workers,¹⁶⁴ but several investigations have found that the program, as implemented, suppresses wages and is rife with human rights violations.^{165,166} Guest workers have faced wage theft and human trafficking, have been bound by employers or labor brokers who seize their documentation, have been forced to live in inadequate and dirty housing, and have been denied medical benefits for work-related injuries.¹⁶⁶ Workers may be recruited in their home countries under false pretenses-including promises of green cards or visa extensions—and may already be in debt for travel, visa, and/or hiring fees by the time they arrive.¹⁶⁶ One fundamental issue with the program is that it restricts guest workers from changing employers once they arrive, forcing some workers to remain in untenable working and living conditions in order to keep their visas.

There are additional challenges to litigating on behalf of agricultural and meat processing workers, particularly migrant workers and those who lack authorization to work. Frequent migration makes it difficult for lawyers to stay in contact with workers, but it also presents challenges for proving causation; as one example, an employer may escape liability for harmful pesticide exposure by demonstrating that a worker was exposed in multiple settings and thus cannot establish that the employer's conduct caused the injury.

The threat of deportation may discourage workers from making and maintaining contact with an attorney, but it also places pressure on the attorney to protect the client from exposure to such risks. Public Justice—a public interest law firm that works on food safety and health, among other issues—maintains that some of the major impediments to impact litigation on behalf of agricultural and meat processing workers include 1) the difficulty of bringing class action lawsuits (which require extensive preliminary showings and high degrees of uniformity among the plaintiffs); 2) barriers to suits imposed by employee contracts, such as arbitration clauses, which force suits into expensive quasi-judicial forums that lack procedural protections and can prohibit class actions; and 3) preemption of state laws by federal laws, undermining state law remedies. In addition, worker protection statutes often do not have fee-shifting provisions that require the defendant to pay the plaintiffs' attorneys' fees if the plaintiff wins. This can make it difficult to find attorneys willing to take these cases or result in attorneys demanding a contingency from their clients' recovery, which necessitates a higher value claim. **Immigration reform is necessary to avoid farmworker shortages and keep the food supply and prices steady.** The U.S. should extend work authorization to immigration and provide a path to citizenship. But until then ...

- 🗸 provide health insurance to all agricultural and meat processing workers through the ACA and other programs
- 🖌 revise labor laws to require overtime pay and minimum wage for all agricultural workers
- ✓ mandate that employers provide workers' compensation for all agricultural and meat processing workers
- \checkmark expand and increase NIOSH and OSHA funding, and extend OSHA coverage to smaller-scale farms
- establish funding at state level for safe, adequate, subsidized agricultural worker housing programs
- strengthen enforcement of human trafficking laws in agriculture

Bottom line: There are long-term solutions (path to citizenship) and short-term solutions (revised state and federal laws) that should be put into place to protect the fragile agricultural and meat processing worker populations and the equally fragile U.S. food system.

Policy Recommendations for Reform

The stability of the U.S. food supply is inextricably tied to the stability of an agricultural workforce, yet much of our current workforce is unauthorized to work in the U.S. and is continually threatened with the health consequences of poor working and living conditions. The American Farm Bureau Federation acknowledges that immigration reform is necessary to avoid to worker shortages (which cost American farms more than \$300 million in 2010) and increases in food prices.¹⁶⁷ A recent study found that eliminating immigrant labor would reduce the U.S. dairy herd by 2.1 million cows and would increase the retail price of milk by 90%.¹⁶⁸ The current U.S. food system is dependent on immigrant workers, yet this argument fails to be made in many immigration reform debates.

As the immigration reform debate resurfaces, there are opportunities for public health practitioners to create awareness about the unique health challenges facing undocumented immigrant populations and to advocate for increased representation and protection of these populations through intermediary policy changes and, eventually, immigration reform. A path to citizenship is necessary in the long run to ensure a stable workforce and protect both the health of agricultural and meat processing workers and the stability of the U.S. food system.

Comprehensive immigration reform should extend work authorization to immigrants currently working in food production and processing and provide a path to citizenship. In 2013, the Senate passed a bill that would allow undocumented immigrants to apply for lawful permanent residence via a Registered Provisional Immigrant (RPI) program.¹⁶⁹ The bill also contains a special program for farmworkers, in which undocumented workers who have performed 575 hours or 100 days of work during a 2 year period (ending December 31, 2012), have paid a penalty, and have passed background checks may be eligible for a blue card. A blue card would enable workers to switch employers and apply for permanent residency after 5 years; employers of blue card holders would also be required to pay workers at least minimum wage and provide housing or a housing allowance. Blue card holders would not be eligible for federal means-tested public benefits (such as benefits under the Affordable Care Act, Medicaid, or food assistance).¹⁶⁹ The bill containing these provisions, entitled the "Border Security, Economic Opportunity, and Immigration Modernization Act," has not passed in the House of Representatives.

President Obama announced executive actions in November 2014 that would have protected undocumented immigrants who are parents of U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents and have been in the U.S. for 5 years. This program, called Deferred Action for Parental Accountability (DAPA), would allow an estimated 450,000 farmworkers to apply for temporary relief from deportation and work authorization.¹⁷⁰ In February 2015, a federal judge issued a court order temporarily preventing the government from implementing this program,¹⁴³ and in June of 2016, the Supreme Court affirmed the rule, blocking implementation of DAPA by a 4-4 split vote. Although the Supreme Court ruling does not set a legal precedent, it holds millions of undocumented immigrants—many of them parents to U.S. citizens—under the threat of deportation. In July 2016, President Obama asked the Supreme Court to reconsider the ruling once a ninth Supreme Court justice is confirmed.¹⁷¹ Implementation of DAPA is a necessary first step toward more widespread immigration reform that would allow all immigrant agricultural and meat processing workers to apply for work authorization and have a path toward citizenship. Until undocumented workers have the protection of authorization to work in the U.S., the fear of deportation will dissuade these workers from seeking out better working conditions and health care, and wages and working conditions will remain depressed for all U.S. agricultural and meat processing workers.

Several policy changes should be considered to offer immediate reductions in health risks and improvements in health-related policies. Intermediary policy reforms should:

Extend eligibility for health insurance benefits for workers and their families.

Subsidies available under the Affordable Care Act (ACA) should eventually be expanded to all U.S. agricultural and meat processing workers. In the meantime, states should provide health insurance subsidies to workers who are excluded from the ACA and other programs so that workers may access medical, dental, mental health, and eye care. Though it has not yet been funded, legislation has been introduced in California that provides state-sponsored subsidies (similar to the ACA) for all eligible persons, regardless of authorization status.²¹ Protecting agricultural and food processing workers' health is especially important given the connection to food safety and broader public health impacts.

Remove exemptions for agricultural workers and increase minimum wage in the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

Agricultural workers have been covered by the FLSA since 1966, but overtime pay provisions and some minimum wage requirements do not apply to all workers. Virtually all agricultural employers are exempt from paying employees time and one half the regular pay rates for hours worked in excess of forty per week.¹⁷² Youth agricultural workers are exempt from the child labor provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.¹⁵⁷ Minimum wage exemptions apply to those who are "principally engaged on the range in the production of livestock," hand harvest laborers who are paid on a piece rate basis, and others.¹⁷² It is time for a revision of the FLSA that covers youth agricultural workers and extends overtime pay and minimum wage coverage to all agricultural workers. The minimum wage should also be increased, as workers laboring to provide a safe and sufficient U.S. food supply should consistently earn enough to be able to feed themselves and their families, without having to apply for Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) benefits or turn to local food banks for support. Agricultural workers who earn minimum wage should not be trapped below the federal poverty line. Additionally, work authorization—or protection from the threat of loss of employment and/or deportation-will be essential to enforce the FLSA.

Mandate that employers provide full workers' compensation coverage for agricultural and meat processing workers.

Migrant and seasonal workers are not guaranteed sufficient workers' compensation coverage in about half of all U.S. states.¹⁷³ Only thirteen states require agricultural employers to cover seasonal workers to the same extent as all other workers, and sixteen states do not require employers to provide any coverage for these workers.¹⁷³ Given the high risk of injury in most agricultural work and the limited resources that are usually available to workers and agricultural communities, the federal government should mandate that agricultural employers must provide workers' compensation coverage for migrant and seasonal agricultural workers to the same extent as all other workers. Additionally, some states' explicitly allow undocumented workers to receive compensation coverage; given the percentage of agricultural and meat processing workers that are undocumented and the higher rates of injury in this sector, all states should require agricultural employers to provide coverage for all employees.

Remove the OSHA exemption for the number of employees required for enforcement and inspection.

With the advent of mechanized farm and food processing equipment, largescale farms and food animal production operations increasingly operate with fewer employees. A farming operation is currently exempt from all OSHA activities—including inspections and enforcement—if it employs 10 or fewer non-family employees.¹⁷⁴ The scale of production and waste created by farming operations can be significant even if the number of employees exempts the operation from OSHA activities. Recently, a ruling in Yakima Valley, Washington established that mishandled manure created at an industrial animal operation will be considered a solid waste under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA),¹⁷⁵ highlighting the threats present on animal operations (in this case, dairies) that may employ fewer than 11 people. In order to protect all workers from occupational hazards, OSHA should not exempt food production and processing facilities based on the number of employees.

Ensure that agricultural workers and their families have access to safe, affordable housing in the U.S.

A few states have established funding sources to develop new, affordable housing specifically for agricultural workers; other states should follow.¹⁷⁶ Unauthorized workers must not be considered ineligible for subsidized agricultural worker housing programs. Additionally, employers hiring temporary workers under the H-2A guest worker program, or any similar programs that may be established in the future, should not be permitted to substitute hous-

^{*} Arkansas' workers' compensation statute, for example, defines an employee as "any person, including a minor, whether lawfully or unlawfully employed in the service of an employer," (2014 Arkansas Code Title 11—Labor and Industrial Relations. Chapter 9—Workers' Compensation. Subchapter 1—General Provisions 11-9-102-Definitions. Justia U.S. Law. Available at: <u>http://law.justia.com/codes/arkansas/2014/title-11/chapter-9/subchapter-1/section-11-9-102</u>).

ing vouchers for living quarters, and living quarters should be subject to regular inspections to ensure the safety and adequacy of housing and utilities.¹⁷⁶

Replace the H-2A visa with a variation of the Blue Card program.

In order to protect temporary workers from wage theft, inordinate debt, restriction to one employer, human trafficking, and other abuses, a new visa should be established for agricultural workers that replaces the H-2A visa program. Similar to the 2013 Senate bill's proposed Blue Card program, this new visa should allow workers to switch employers, apply for a green card after 5 years, and come and go from the U.S. as long as 100 days of agricultural work are completed in a year. Currently unauthorized workers in the U.S. should also be eligible for this new program.

Expand and increase funding for NIOSH and OSHA.

NIOSH implements vital surveillance, research, and technology transfer programs with the goal of preventing work-related illnesses and injuries. NIOSH has identified emerging issues (e.g., avian flu, the use of new technology and equipment) in the Agriculture, Forestry, and Fishing sector that merit increased research.¹⁷⁷ Further, NIOSH is well positioned to conduct wider surveillance on agricultural and meat processing workers' health risks and outcomes and could collect valuable data to better assess the needs of this population. Increased funding is necessary for OSHA to ensure that there are adequate numbers of inspectors available. Additionally, enforcement of OSHA regulations should be strengthened and fines for violations increased in order to change working conditions and prevent injuries. Testifying before Congress in October 2015, the Assistant Secretary of OSHA stated that the agency only has enough resources to inspect each job site in the U.S. once every 140 years and is inspecting less than 40% of injury and illness reports.¹⁷⁸ He added, "The fewer inspections we do, the more injuries are going to occur, and the more costs are going to go up, and so we know this is going to have [a] bad impact on workers".¹⁷⁸

Strengthen enforcement of human trafficking violations and sexual harassment in agriculture.

The Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA)—the most comprehensive anti-trafficking legislation ever passed—expired in 2011 and has not been reauthorized by the U.S. Congress. Reauthorization, and adequate funding, is essential in order to increase enforcement of trafficking violations and protect survivors. Unfortunately, anti-trafficking enforcement may have been overshadowed by an increased focus on detainment and deportation of undocumented immigrants.¹⁷⁹ As a result, trafficked or abused workers may avoid contact with U.S. police or government officials for fear of deportation, and traffickers may use undocumented immigrants' fear of deportation as a coercion tactic.¹⁷⁹ In addition to reauthorization of the TVPA, there must be additional efforts to enforce sexual harassment laws and facilitate the reporting of violations (e.g., increase the number of Equal Employment Opportunity Commission offices in rural areas, ensure that there are Spanish-speaking employees on staff, and allow complaints to be filed offline).

Strengthen protections for workers who report hazards, exposures, and health conditions, and protect workers' right to organize.

Food production and processing workers who report health hazards or poor working conditions must be protected under federal law from employer retaliations. Whistleblower provisions—such as those that protect U.S. government employees from reporting waste, abuse, or fraud—should serve as a model of protection for food systems employees who are subject to health risks in their workplace. Furthermore, agricultural and meat processing workers should have the right to organize and collectively bargain, as employers in other sectors are free to do under the National Labor Relations Act. California passed its own Agricultural Labor Relations Act in 1975 that should serve as a model for other states to empower their resident agricultural and meat processing workers.

Conclusion

There is a need to re-shape the immigration debate and discuss reform in a way that recognizes undocumented workers' contributions to, and sacrifices for, the U.S. food system and economy. Several organizations and institutes (including Farmworker Justice, the Coalition of Immokalee Workers, and the California Institute for Rural Studies, among others) have made great strides to increase awareness of the health risks facing agricultural workers and to push for reform. As the debate evolves, the public health community must continue to provide research, education, and advocacy around the link between the health and security of agricultural and meat processing workers and the U.S. food system.

The information we do have on the impacts of industrial food production and processing demands that the health threats and living conditions that workers face be considered during any debate on immigration reform. The U.S. food supply should be considered insecure as long as it relies on an impermanent, underrepresented, and at-risk workforce.

References

1. Farmworkers and immigration: Priorities for reform. Farmworker Justice Web site. https:// www.farmworkerjustice.org/sites/default/files/Doc%201%20FJFarmworkerImmigrationReformPriorities.pdf. Updated nd. Accessed February 24, 2017.

2. Occupational Employment Statistics—NAICS Animal Slaughtering and Processing. United States Department of Labor. <u>http://www.bls.gov/oes/current/naics4_311600.htm</u>. Updated March 30, 2 016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

3. Keynote address by USDA Secretary Tom Vilsack at 2013 USDA Ag Outlook Conference. United States Department of Agriculture. <u>http://www.usda.gov/wps/portal/usda/usda-home?contentid=2013/02/0033.xml&navid=TRANSCRIPT&navtype=RT&parentnav=TRAN-SCRIPTS_SPEECHES&edeployment_action=retrievecontent</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed February 24, 2017.

4. NCC President Brown outlines principles of food manufacturers immigration coalition. National Chicken Council. <u>http://www.nationalchickencouncil.org/ncc-president-brown-out-lines-principles-of-food-manufacturers-immigration-coalition/</u>. Updated February 26, 2013. Accessed February 24, 2017.

5. The National Agricultural Workers Survey. United States Department of Labor. <u>http://www.</u> <u>doleta.gov/agworker/naws.cfm</u>. Published July 6, 2005. Updated January 13, 2007. Accessed February 24, 2017.

6. U.S. Department of Labor Employment and Training Administration. Table 2. Number of interviews by fiscal year and region, 1989-2012. The National Agricultural Workers Survey. <u>https://www.doleta.gov/agworker/naws.cfm</u>. Published July 6 2005. Updated 2015. Accessed September 13, 2016. 7. Selected statistics on farmworkers. Farmworker Justice Web site. <u>http://www.farmwork-erjustice.org/sites/default/files/NAWS%20data%20factsht%201-13-15FINAL.pdf</u>. Accessed February 24, 2017.

8. Meckler L. Push to protect immigrant farmworkers. *The Wall Street Journal*. November 18, 2014. Available from: <u>http://www.wsj.com/articles/push-to-protect-immigrant-farm-work-ers-1416357280</u>.

9. Fair labor child labor requirements in agricultural occupations under the Fair Labor Standards Act (Child Labor Bulletin 102). US Department of Labor. <u>http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/</u> <u>compliance/childlabor102.pdf</u>. Published 2007. Accessed February 24, 2017.

10. Hess B. Children in the fields: An American Problem. Association of Farmworker Opportunity Programs. <u>http://afop.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/07/Children-in-the-Fields-Re-</u> <u>port-2007.pdf</u>. Published 2007. Accessed February 24, 2017.

11. Child Labor in Agriculture: Changes needed to better protect health and educational opportunities. United States General Accounting Office. <u>http://www.gao.gov/assets/160/156344.</u> <u>pdf</u>. Published 1998. Accessed February 24, 2017.

12. Villarejo D. Health-related inequities among hired farmworkers and the resurgence of labor-intensive agriculture. The Kresge Foundation. <u>http://kresge.org/sites/default/files/</u><u>Health-farm-worker-white-paper.pdf</u>. Published 2012. Accessed February 24, 2017.

13. Fernandez-Cornejo J, Nehring R, Osteen C, Wechsler S, Martin A, Vialou A. Pesticide use in US agriculture: 21 selected crops, 1960–2008. Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture. *Economic Research Service, Economic Information Bulletin*. 2014(124).

14. Das R, Steege A, Baron S, Beckman J, Harrison R. Pesticide-related illness among migrant farmworkers in the United States. *Int J Occup Environ Health*. 2001;7:303-312.

15. Fleming LE, Herzstein JA. Emerging issues in pesticide health studies. *Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews.* 1997;12:387-97. 32.

16. Engel LS, O'Meara ES, Schwartz SM. Maternal occupation in agriculture and risk of limb defects in Washington state, 1980–1993. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. 2000;26(33):193-198.

17. Arbuckle TE, Sever LE. Pesticide exposures and fetal death: A review of the epidemiologic literature. *CRC Crit Rev Toxicol*. 1998;28(34):229-270.

18. Khuder SA, Mutgi AB, Schaub EA. Meta analyses of brain cancer and farming. *Am J Ind Med*. 1998;34(35):252-260.

19. Le Couteur DG, McLean AJ, Taylor MC, Woodham BL, Board PG. Pesticides and Parkinson's disease. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy*. 1999;53(36):122-130.

20. Keifer MC, Mahurin RK. Chronic neurologic effects of pesticide overexposure. *Occup Med*. 1997;12(2):291-304.

21. Schenker MB, McCurdy SA, Riden HE, Villarejo D. Improving the health of agricultural workers and their families in California: Current status and policy recommendations. University of California Global Health Institute. <u>http://www.ucghi.universityofcalifornia.edu/docs/ucghi-ag-work-paper-2015.pdf</u>. Published 2015.

22. Jaga K, Dharmani C. The epidemiology of pesticide exposure and cancer: A review. *Rev Environ Health*. 2005;20(1):15-38.

23. Alavanja MC, Bonner MR. Occupational pesticide exposures and cancer risk: A review. *J toxicol Environ Health, Pt B.* 2012;15(4):238-263.

24. Weichenthal S, Moase C, Chan P. A review of pesticide exposure and cancer incidence in the agricultural health study cohort. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2010:1117-1125.

25. Infante-Rivard C, Weichenthal S. Pesticides and childhood cancer: An update of Zahm and Ward's 1998 review. *J toxicol Environ Health, Pt B.* 2007;10(1-2):81-99.

26. Mostafalou S, Abdollahi M. Pesticides and human chronic diseases: Evidences, mechanisms, and perspectives. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*. 2013;268(2):157-177.

27. Thayer KA, Heindel JJ, Bucher JR, Gallo MA. Role of environmental chemicals in diabetes and obesity: A national toxicology program workshop review. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2012;120(6):779-789.

28. Kós MI, Hoshino AC, Asmus CIF, Mendonça R, Meyer A. Peripheral and central auditory effects of pesticide exposure: A systematic review. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública*. 2013;29(8):1491-1506.

29. Hoppin JA, Umbach DM, Long S, et al. Respiratory disease in United States farmers. *Occup Environ Med*. 2014;71(7):484-491.

30. Muñoz-Quezada MT, Lucero BA, Barr DB, et al. Neurodevelopmental effects in children associated with exposure to organophosphate pesticides: A systematic review. *Neurotoxicology*. 2013;39:158-168.

31. Organic market overview. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service Web site. <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/natural-resources-environment/organ-</u> <u>ic-agriculture/organic-market-overview.aspx</u>. Updated October 19, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

32. EPA releases report containing latest estimates of pesticide use in the United States. United States Environmental Protection Agency. https://archive.epa.gov/pesticides/news/web/html/ sales-usage06-07.html. Published February 17, 2011. Accessed February 24, 2017.

33. Revisions to the worker protection standard. Pesticide Worker Safety. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://www.epa.gov/pesticide-worker-safety/revisions-worker-protection-standard</u>. Published April 26, 2016. Updated August 24, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

34. Calvert GM, Karnik J, Mehler L, et al. Acute pesticide poisoning among agricultural workers in the United States, 1998–2005. *Am J Ind Med.* 2008;51(12):883-898.

35. Summary of results from the California pesticide illness surveillance program. HS-1893. California Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Pesticide Regulation. http://www.cdpr.ca.gov/docs/whs/pdf/hs1893.pdf. Published 2011.

36. National Census of Fatal Occupational Injuries in 2013. United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/archives/cfoi_09112014.pdf. Published September 11, 2014. Accessed February 24, 2017.

37. Agricultural Safety. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>niosh/topics/aginjury/</u>. Updated December 15, 2014. Accessed February 24, 2017.

38. Dogan KH, Demirci S. Livestock-handling related injuries and deaths. INTECH Open Access Publisher; 2012. http://cdn.intechopen.com/pdfs/40418/InTech-Livestock_handling_relat-ed_injuries_and_deaths.pdf.

39. Fry JP, Love DC, Shukla A, Lee RM. Offshore finfish aquaculture in the United States: An examination of federal laws that could be used to address environmental and occupational public health risks. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2014;11(11):11964-11985.

40. Myers ML. Review of occupational hazards associated with aquaculture. *J Agromed*. 2010;15(4):412-426.

41. Arcury TA, O'Hara H, Grzywacz JG, Isom S, Chen H, Quandt SA. Work safety climate, musculoskeletal discomfort, working while injured, and depression among migrant farmworkers in North Carolina. *Am J Public Health*. 2012;102(S2):S272-S278.

42. Leigh JP, Du J, McCurdy SA. An estimate of the US government's undercount of nonfatal occupational injuries and illnesses in agriculture. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2014;24(4):254-259.

43. Heat Stress. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/top-ics/heatstress/default.html</u>. Updated July19, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

44. Hansen E, Donohoe M. Health issues of migrant and seasonal farmworkers. *J Health Care Poor Underserved*. 2003;14(2):153-164.

45. Hazards to outdoor workers. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Web site. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/outdoor/</u>. Updated July 30, 2015. Accessed February 24, 2017.

46. Davis KG, Kotowski SE. Understanding the ergonomic risk for musculoskeletal disorders in the United States agricultural sector. *Am J Ind Med.* 2007;50(7):501-511.

47. Xiao H, McCurdy SA, Stoecklin Marois MT, Li C, Schenker MB. Agricultural work and chronic musculoskeletal pain among Latino farmworkers: The MICASA study. *Am J Ind Med*. 2013;56(2):216-225.

48. Villarejo D, Lighthall D, Williams DI, et al. Suffering in silence: A report on the health of California's agricultural workers. *California Institute for Rural Studies*. 2000;1-37.

49. Rosecrance J, Rodgers G, Merlino L. Low back pain and musculoskeletal symptoms among Kansas farmers. *Am J Ind Med*. 2006;49(7):547-556.

50. Heederik D, Sigsgaard T, Thorne PS, et al. Health effects of airborne exposures from concentrated animal feeding operations. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2007(115):298-302.

51. Moran RE, Bennett DH, Garcia J, Schenker MB. Occupational exposure to particulate matter from three agricultural crops in California. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*. 2014;217(2):226-230.

52. Garcia J, Bennett DH, Tancredi D, et al. Occupational exposure to particulate matter and endotoxin for California dairy workers. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*. 2013;216(1):56-62.

53. Epstein E. Disposal and management of solid waste: Pathogens and diseases. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2014.

54. Strawn LK, Grohn YT, Warchocki S, Worobo RW, Bihn EA, Wiedmann M. Risk factors associated with Salmonella and Listeria monocytogenes contamination of produce fields. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* 2013;79(24):7618-7627.

55. Schenker MB, Farrar JA, Mitchell DC, et al. Agricultural dust exposure and respiratory symptoms among California farm operators. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2005;47(11):1157-1166.

56. Singleton JA, Beaumont JJ. COMS II: California occupational mortality, 1979-1981, adjusted for smoking, alcohol, and socioeconomic status. Health Demographics Section, Health Data and Statistics Branch, California Dept. of Health Services; 1989.

57. Stubbs HA, Harris J, Spear RC. A proportionate mortality analysis of California agricultural workers, 1978–1979. Am J Ind Med. 1984;6(4):305-320.

58. Faria NMX, Facchini LA, Fassa AG, Tomasi E. Farm work, dust exposure and respiratory symptoms among farmers. *Revista de Saúde Pública*. 2006;40(5):827-836.

59. Linaker C, Smedley J. Respiratory illness in agricultural workers. *Occup Med (Lond)*. 2002;52(8):451-459.

60. Schenker MB, Christiani D, Cormier Y, et al. Respiratory health hazards in agriculture. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 1998;158:S1-S76.

61. Von Essen SG, McCurdy SA. Health and safety risks in production agriculture. *West J Med*. 1998;169(4):214-220.

62. Kullman GJ, Thorne PS, Waldron PF, et al. Organic dust exposures from work in dairy barns. American Industrial Hygiene Association. 1998;59(6):403-413.

63. Graham JP, Leibler JH, Price LB, et al. The animal-human interface and infectious disease in industrial food animal production: Rethinking biosecurity and biocontainment. *Public Health Rep.* 2008;123(3):282-299.

64. Omland O. Exposure and respiratory health in farming in temperate zones - A review of the literature. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine. 2002;9(2):119-136.

65. Gainet M, Thaon I, Westeel V, et al. Twelve-year longitudinal study of respiratory status in dairy farmers. *Eur Respir J.* 2007;30(1):97-103.

66. Cambra-López M, Aarnink AJA, Zhao Y, Calvet S, Torres AG. Airborne particulate matter from livestock production systems: A review of an air pollution problem. *Environmental Pollution*. 2010;158(1):1-17.

67. Campagnolo ER, Johnson KR, Karpati A, et al. Antimicrobial residues in animal waste and water resources proximal to large-scale swine and poultry feeding operations. *Sci Total Environ*. 2002;299(1):89-95.

68. Bull SA, Allen VM, Domingue G, et al. Sources of *Campylobacter* spp. colonizing housed broiler flocks during rearing. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 2006;72(1):645-652.

69. Gibbs SG, Green CF, Tarwater PM, Mota LC, Mena KD, Scarpino PV. Isolation of antibiotic-resistant bacteria from the air plume downwind of a swine confined or concentrated animal feeding operation. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2006:1032-1037.

70. Price LB, Graham JP, Lackey LG, Roess A, Vailes R, Silbergeld E. Elevated risk of carrying gentamicin-resistant *Escherichia coli* among US poultry workers. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2007(115):1738-1742.

71. Nadimpalli M, Rinsky JL, Wing S, et al. Persistence of livestock-associated antibiotic-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* among industrial hog operation workers in North Carolina over 14 days. *Occup Environ Med*. 2015;72(2):90-99.

72. Principles of Epidemiology in Public Health Practice. http://www.cdc.gov/ophss/csels/ dsepd/ss1978/lesson1/section10.html. Updated 2012. Third Edition.

73. Hamscher G, Pawelzick HT, Sczesny S, Nau H, Hartung J. Antibiotics in dust originating from a pig-fattening farm: A new source of health hazard for farmers? *Environ Health Perspect*. 2003;111(13):1590-1594.

74. Schiffman SS, Auvermann BW, Bottcher RW. Health effects of aerial emissions from animal production waste management systems. 2001:103-113.

75. Safety and Health Topics—Hydrogen Sulfide. United States Department of Labor. <u>https://www.osha.gov/SLTC/hydrogensulfide/hazards.html</u>. Accessed February 24, 2017.

76. Ammonia in Workplace Atmospheres. United States Department of Labor. <u>https://www.osha.gov/dts/sltc/methods/inorganic/id188/id188.html</u>. Accessed February 24, 2017.

77. Trabue S, Scoggin K, Li H, Burns R, Xin H, Hatfield J. Speciation of volatile organic compounds from poultry production. *Atmos Environ*. 2010;44(29):3538-3546.

78. NIOSH Pocket Guide to Chemical Hazards—Acetic Acid. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/npgd0002.html</u>. Updated April 11, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

79. Methanol. United States Environmental Protection Agency. https://www.epa.gov/ sites/production/files/2016-09/documents/methanol.pdf. Updated January 2000. Accessed February 24, 2017.

80. Tox Town: Acetone. National Institutes of Health. <u>http://toxtown.nlm.nih.gov/text_version/</u> <u>chemicals.php?id=1</u>. Updated February 13, 2017. Accessed February 24, 2017. 81. Hazardous substance fact sheet. New Jersey Department of Health Web site. <u>http://nj.gov/</u> health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/0844.pdf. Updated March 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

82. Donham KJ, Wing S, Osterberg D, et al. Community health and socioeconomic issues surrounding concentrated animal feeding operations. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2007(115):317-320.

83. Wing S, Wolf S. Intensive livestock operations, health, and quality of life among eastern North Carolina residents. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2000;108(3):233-238.

84. Spencer JL, Guan J. Public health implications related to spread of pathogens in manure from livestock and poultry operations. *Public Health Microbiology*. Vol 268. Springer; 2004:503-515.

85. Graham JP, Nachman KE. Managing waste from confined animal feeding operations in the United States: The need for sanitary reform. *Journal of Water and Health*. 2010;8(4):646-670.

86. Nachman KE, Graham JP, Price LB, Silbergeld EK. Arsenic: A roadblock to potential animal waste management solutions. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2005;113(9):1123.

87. Edwards DR, Daniel TC. Environmental impacts of on-farm poultry waste disposal—A review. *Bioresour Technol*. 1992;41(1):9-33.

88. Literature review of contaminants in livestock and poultry manure and implications for water quality. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://bit.ly/2kuRN6k. Updated July 2013. EPA 820-R-13-002.

89. Kirkhorn SR. Agricultural respiratory hazards and diseases: A primer for Wisconsin practitioners and health/safety professionals. Partners in Agricultural Health. http://worh.org/files/ AgHealth/resp.pdf. Accessed February 24, 2017.

90. James E, Joyce M. Assessment and management of watershed microbial contaminants. *Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol*. 2004;34(2):109-139.

91. Mulders M, Haenen A, Geenen P, et al. Prevalence of livestock-associated MRSA in broiler flocks and risk factors for slaughterhouse personnel in the Netherlands. *Epidemiol Infect*. 2010;138(05):743-755.

92. Castillo Neyra R, Vegosen L, Davis MF, Price L, Silbergeld EK. Antimicrobial-resistant bacteria: An unrecognized work-related risk in food animal production. *Saf Health Work*. 2012;3(2):85-91.

93. Pew Commission on Industrial Farm Animal Production. Putting meat on the table: Industrial farm animal production in America. The Pew Charitable Trusts and the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; Baltimore, MD, USA. 2008. http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/ research-and-analysis/reports/2008/04/29/putting-meat-on-the-table-industrial-farm-animal-production-in-america

94. Saenz RA, Hethcote HW, Gray GC. Confined animal feeding operations as amplifiers of influenza. *Vector-Borne & Zoonotic Diseases*. 2006;6(4):338-346.

95. Lantos PM, Hoffman K, Hohle M, Anderson B, Gray GC. Are people living near modern swine production facilities at increased risk of influenza virus infection? *Clin Infect Dis*. 2016;63(12):1558-1563.

96. Lipscomb HJ, Argue R, McDonald MA, et al. Exploration of work and health disparities among Black women employed in poultry processing in the rural south. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2005:1833-1840.

97. Workplace safety and health: Safety in the meat and poultry industry, while improving, could be further strengthened. United States Government Accountability Office. http://www.gao.gov/assets/250/245042.pdf. Published 2005. GAO-05-96. Accessed February 24, 2017.

98. Workplace safety and health: Additional data needed to address continued hazards in the meat and poultry industry. U.S. Government Accountability Office. <u>http://www.gao.gov/prod-ucts/GAO-16-337</u>. Published April 25, 2016. Accessed September 6, 2016.

99. Quandt SA, Grzywacz JG, Marin A, et al. Illnesses and injuries reported by Latino poultry workers in western North Carolina. *Am J Ind Med*. 2006;49(5):343-351.

100. Employer reported workplace injuries and illnesses - 2014. Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor. <u>http://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/osh.pdf</u>. Published October 29, 2015. Accessed September 30, 2016.

101. Illness, injuries, fatalities. Incidence rates of nonfatal occupational illness, by industry and category of illness, 2013. Bureau of Labor Statistics Database, Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor. <u>http://www.bls.gov/iif/oshwc/osh/os/ostb3969.pdf</u>. Updated 2014. Accessed February 24, 2017.

102. McMillan M, Fink D. Cutting into the meatpacking line: Workers and rural change in the rural Midwest. *Contemp Sociology*. 1999;28(59).

103. Marín AJ, Grzywacz JG, Arcury TA, Carrillo L, Coates ML, Quandt SA. Evidence of organizational injustice in poultry processing plants: Possible effects on occupational health and safety among Latino workers in North Carolina. *Am J Ind Med*. 2009;52(1):37-48.

104. Unsafe at these speeds. Southern Poverty Law Center publication. http://www.splcenter.org/get-informed/publications/Unsafe-at-These-Speeds. Published February 28, 2013. Accessed February 24, 2017.

105. Gabbett R. OSHA cites Allen Harim for poultry worker musculoskeletal risks. Meatingplace.com Web site. <u>http://www.meatingplace.com/Industry/News/Details/59215</u>. Published June 23, 2015. Accessed February 24, 2017.

106. Ohio poultry processor faces \$861,500 in fines from OSHA. Food Safety News Web site. http://www.foodsafetynews.com/2015/08/ohio-poultry-processor-faces-861k-in-finesfrom-osha/#.VeWshM7zy4d. Published August 17, 2015. Accessed February 24, 2017.

107. U.S. Department of Labor. Amputation at Tyson foods exposes chemical, fall, fire hazards at Texas plant. News Release. <u>https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/osha/osha20160816-</u> <u>0</u>. Published August 16, 2016. Accessed September 13, 2016. 108. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Citation and notification of penalty.
U.S. Department of Labor. <u>https://www.dol.gov/sites/default/files/newsroom/newsreleases/</u> OSHA20161541b.pdf. Published July 21, 2016. Accessed September 6, 2016.

109. Compa LA. Blood, sweat, and fear: Workers' rights in US meat and poultry plants. Human Rights Watch; 2004.

110. Kandel W, Parrado EA. Restructuring of the US meat processing industry and new Hispanic migrant destinations. *Popul Dev Rev.* 2005;31(3):447-471.

111. Saucedo LM. The browning of the American workplace: Protecting workers in increasingly Latino-ized occupations. *Notre Dame Law Rev.* 2004;80:303-332.

112. Harries MJ, Lear JT. Occupational skin infections. Occup Med (Lond). 2004;54(7):441-449.

113. Lander L, Sorock GS, Stentz TL, et al. A case-crossover study of occupational laceration injuries in pork processing: Methods and preliminary findings. *Occup Environ Med*. 2010;67(10):686-692.

114. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. OSHA cites case farms for failing to report employee illness. U.S. Department of Labor. <u>https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owa-disp.show_document?p_table=NEWS_RELEASES&p_id=29562</u>. Published February 11, 2016. Accessed September 6, 2016.

115. Holzbauer SM, DeVries AS, Sejvar JJ, et al. Epidemiologic investigation of immune-mediated polyradiculoneuropathy among abattoir workers exposed to porcine brain. *PloS one*. 2010;5(3):e9782.

116. Grady D. A medical mystery unfolds in Minnesota. The New York Times. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2008/02/05/health/05pork.html</u>. Published February 5, 2008. Accessed January 3, 2017.

117. Hovey JD, Magaña C. Acculturative stress, anxiety, and depression among Mexican immigrant farmworkers in the Midwest United States. *Journal of Immigrant Health*. 2000;2(3):119-131.

118. Hovey JD, Seligman LD. The mental health of agricultural workers. *Agricultural Medicine*. Springer; 2006:282-299.

119. Quandt SA, Arcury TA, Early J, Tapia J, Davis JD. Household food security among migrant and seasonal Latino farmworkers in North Carolina. *Public Health Rep.* 2004;119(6):568-576.

120. Weigel MM, Armijos RX, Hall YP, Ramirez Y, Orozco R. The household food insecurity and health outcomes of US-Mexico border migrant and seasonal farmworkers. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. 2007;9(3):157-169.

121. Melchior M, Chastang J, Falissard B, et al. Food insecurity and children's mental health: A prospective birth cohort study. *PloS one*. 2012;7(12):e52615.

122. Grzywacz JG, Quandt SA, Chen H, et al. Depressive symptoms among Latino farmworkers across the agricultural season: Structural and situational influences. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*. 2010;16(3):335.

123. Crain R, Grzywacz JG, Schwantes M, Isom S, Quandt SA, Arcury TA. Correlates of mental health among Latino farmworkers in North Carolina. *The Journal of Rural Health*. 2012;28(3):277-285.

124. Siantz M. Correlates of maternal depression among Mexican American migrant farmworker mothers. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*. 1990;3(1):9-13.

125. Moya J, Bearer CF, Etzel RA. Children's behavior and physiology and how it affects exposure to environmental contaminants. *Pediatrics*. 2004;113(Supplement 3):996-1006.

126. Arcury TA, Grzywacz JG, Barr DB, Tapia J, Chen H, Quandt SA. Pesticide urinary metabolite levels of children in eastern North Carolina farmworker households. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2007:1254-1260.

127. Trunnelle KJ, Bennett DH, Ahn KC, et al. Concentrations of the urinary pyrethroid metabolite 3-phenoxybenzoic acid in farm worker families in the MICASA study. *Environ Res*. 2014;131:153-159.

128. Curwin BD, Hein MJ, Sanderson WT, et al. Urinary pesticide concentrations among children, mothers and fathers living in farm and non-farm households in Iowa. *Ann Occup Hyg.* 2007;51(1):53-65.

129. Bradman A, Whitaker D, Quirós L, et al. Pesticides and their metabolites in the homes and urine of farmworker children living in the Salinas Valley, CA. *Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology*. 2007;17(4):331-349.

130. Bradman A, Castorina R, Boyd Barr D, et al. Determinants of organophosphorus pesticide urinary metabolite levels in young children living in an agricultural community. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2011;8(4):1061-1083.

131. Marks AR, Harley K, Bradman A, et al. Organophosphate pesticide exposure and attention in young Mexican-American children: The CHAMACOS study. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2010;118:1768-1774.

132. Eskenazi B, Marks AR, Bradman A, et al. Organophosphate pesticide exposure and neurodevelopment in young Mexican-American children. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2007:792-798.

133. Wickerham EL, Lozoff B, Shao J, Kaciroti N, Xia Y, Meeker JD. Reduced birth weight in relation to pesticide mixtures detected in cord blood of full-term infants. *Environ Int*. 2012;47:80-85.

134. Rule AM, Evans SL, Silbergeld EK. Food animal transport: A potential source of community exposures to health hazards from industrial farming (CAFOs). *Journal of Infection and Public Health*. 2008;1(1):33-39.

135. Baykov B, Stoyanov M. Microbial air pollution caused by intensive broiler chicken breeding. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*. 1999;29(4):389-392.

136. Wing S, Horton RA, Marshall SW, et al. Air pollution and odor in communities near industrial swine operations. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2008;116(10):1362-1368. 137. Wing S, Cole D, Grant G. Environmental injustice in North Carolina's hog industry. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2000;108(3):225-231.

138. Wing S. Social responsibility and research ethics in community-driven studies of industrialized hog production. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2002;110(5):437-444.

139. Agricultural nonpoint source fact sheet. United States Environmental Protection Agency. https://www.epa.gov/nps/nonpoint-source-agriculture. Updated April 19, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

140. Balazs C, Morello-Frosch R, Hubbard A, Ray I. Social disparities in nitrate-contaminated drinking water in California's San Joaquin Valley. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2011;119(9):1272-1278.

141. Smith TC, Pearson N. The emergence of Staphylococcus aureus ST398. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases. 2011;11(4):327-339.

142. Dedman DJ, Gunnell D, Davey Smith G, Frankel S. Childhood housing conditions and later mortality in the Boyd Orr cohort. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2001;55(1):10-15.

143. Early J, Davis SW, Quandt SA, Rao P, Snively BM, Arcury TA. Housing characteristics of farmworker families in North Carolina. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. 2006;8(2):173-184.

144. Villarejo D. The challenge of housing California's hired farm laborers. In: David Marcoullieur, Mark Lapping and Owen Furuseth, ed. *Rural housing, exurban expansion, and amenity driven development*. Hampshire, United Kingdom: Ashgate Publishing; 2011:300.

145. Early J, Davis SW, Quandt SA, Rao P, Snively BM, Arcury TA. Housing characteristics of farmworker families in North Carolina. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. 2006;8(2):173-184.

146. Labor department awards \$81M to provide training, support and housing assistance to seasonal farmworkers. United States Department of Labor. <u>https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/</u>releases/eta/eta20160707-0. Published July 7, 2016. Updated 2016. Accessed July 26, 2016.

147. Clayton M, Smith K, Rutkow L, Neff R. The role of food workers in food safety: A policy analysis of the U.S. 2011 Food Safety Modernization Act. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*. 2016;6(2):55.

148. Lo J, Jacobson A. Human rights from field to fork: Improving labor conditions for food-sector workers by organizing across boundaries. *Race/Ethnicity: Multidisciplinary Global Contexts*. 2011;5(1):61-82.

149. Labor trafficking. Polaris Project. https://polarisproject.org/labor-trafficking. Accessed February 24, 2017.

150. Human trafficking and farmworkers. Freedom Network USA. https://freedomnetworkusa.org/app/uploads/2016/12/Farmworkers.pdf. Updated March 2013. Accessed February 24, 2017. 151. Barrick K, Lattimore P, Pitts W, Zhang S. Indicators of labor trafficking among North Carolina migrant farmworkers. *Research Triangle Park, NC: RTI International*. 2013.

152. Labor trafficking: Agriculture. National Human Trafficking Resource Center. <u>http://</u><u>www.traffickingresourcecenter.org/labor-trafficking-venuesindustries/agriculture</u>. Accessed February 24, 2017.

153. Waugh IM. Examining the sexual harassment experiences of Mexican immigrant farmworking women. *Violence Against Women*. 2010;16(3):237-261.

154. Padilla JR, Bacon D. Protect female farmworkers. The New York Times. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/19/opinion/how-to-protect-female-farmworkers.html?action=-click&pgtype=Homepage&clickSource=story-heading&module=opinion-c-col-right-re-gion®ion=opinion-c-col-right-region&WT.nav=opinion-c-col-right-region. Published January 19, 2016. Updated 2016. Accessed July 26, 2016.</u>

155. Bauer M. Migrant tomato workers face chronic abuses. Southern Poverty Law Center. https://www.splcenter.org/news/2008/04/15/migrant-tomato-workers-face-chronic-abuses. Published April 14, 2008.

156. Liebman AK, Augustave W. Agricultural health and safety: Incorporating the worker perspective. *J Agromed*. 2010;15(3):192-199.

157. Fair Labor Standards Act Advisor—Exemptions. United States Department of Labor. http://www.dol.gov/elaws/esa/flsa/screen75.asp. Accessed February 24, 2017.

158. Rodman S, Barry C, Clayton M, Frattaroli S, Neff R, Rutkow L. Agricultural exceptionalism at the state level: Characterization of wage and hour laws for U.S. farmworkers. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*. 2016;6(2):89.

159. Human Trafficking in Agricultural Labor. National Human Trafficking Resource Center. http://www.traffickingresourcecenter.org/resources/human-trafficking-agricultural-labor. Updated 2013. Accessed February 24, 2017.

160. Celone MA. Undocumented and unprotected: Solutions for protecting the health of America's undocumented Mexican migrant workers. *J Contemp Health L & Pol'y*. 2013;29:117.

161. Lipman FJ. Taxing undocumented immigrants: Separate, unequal and without representation. *Tax Lawyer, Spring.* 2006:06-20.

162. Farm labor: Background. Economic Research Service. United States Department of Agriculture. <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/farm-economy/farm-labor/background.aspx#le-</u> galstatus. Updated September 27, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

163. Application for USDA-RHS farm worker housing. Housing Authority of the County of Santa Cruz. http://www.hacosantacruz.org/pdf/Pre-Application%20Forms/USDA%20Pre-App%20 and%20Cover%20letter%20Engl.pdf. Accessed February 24, 2017.

164. H-2A Temporary Agricultural Workers. U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services. <u>https://www.uscis.gov/working-united-states/temporary-workers/h-2a-temporary-agricultur-al-workers</u>. Updated November 8, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

165. Farmworker Justice. No way to treat a guest: Why the H-2A agricultural visa program fails US and foreign workers. *Washington, DC: Farmworker Justice*. 2011:1-44.

166. Southern Poverty Law Center. Close to slavery. Montgomery, AL. 2007.

167. Agriculture launches #IFarmImmigration campaign for immigration reform. American Farm Bureau Federation. http://www.fb.org/newsroom/agriculture-launches-ifarmimmigra-tion-campaign-for-immigration-reform.Updated February 2, 2014. Accessed February 24, 2017.

168. Adcock F, Anderson D, Rosson P. The economic impacts of immigrant labor on U.S. dairy farms. Texas A&M AgriLife Research, Center for North American Studies, Prepared Under Contract for National Milk Producers Federation. August 2015.

169. A guide to S. 744: Understanding the 2013 Senate Immigration Bill. American Immigration Council. <u>http://www.immigrationpolicy.org/special-reports/guide-s744-understand-ing-2013-senate-immigration-bill</u>. Updated 2013. Accessed February 24, 2017.

170. Immigration administrative relief for farmworkers and other undocumented immigrants. Advocacy and Programs, Farmworker Justice Web site. <u>https://www.farmworkerjustice.org/</u> content/immigration-administrative-relief-farmworkers-and-other-undocumented-immigrants. Accessed February 24, 2017.

171. Barnes R. Obama administration asks Supreme Court to reconsider immigration plan. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/courts_law/obama-ad-</u> ministration-asks-supreme-court-to-reconsider-immigration-plan/2016/07/18/a432d172-4d4b-11e6-a7d8-13d06b37f256_story.html. Published July 18, 2016. Updated 2016. Accessed July 18, 2016.

172. Fact sheet #12: Agricultural employers under the Fair Labor Standards Act. United States Department of Labor, Wage and Hour Division. <u>http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs12.pdf</u>. Updated July 2008. Accessed February 24, 2017.

173. Workers' Compensation. Farmworker Justice. <u>http://farmworkerjustice.org/content/</u> workers-compensation. Accessed February 24, 2017.

174. Galassi T. Policy clarification on OSHA's enforcement authority at small farms. United States Department of Labor. https://www.osha.gov/dep/enforcement/policy_clarification_small_farms.html. Published July 29, 2014. Accessed February 24, 2017.

175. Groundbreaking ruling in Washington state dairy case helps protect public health. Terrel Marshall Daudt & Willie PLLC. <u>http://tmdwlaw.com/groundbreaking-ruling-in-washington-state-dairy-case-helps-protect-public-health/</u>. Published January 16, 2015. Accessed February 24, 2017.

176. Villarejo D. The status of farm labor housing and the health of workers. California Institute for Rural Studies Web site. http://www.cirsinc.org/phocadownload/userupload/housing-status_health_us_hired-farm-workers_2015.pdf. Published March 6, 2015. Accessed February 24, 2017. 177. NIOSH program Portfolio—Agriculture, forestry and fishing program description. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/programs/agff/</u>. Updated November 18, 2016. Accessed February 24, 2017.

178. Linton M. OSHA Chief Dr. David Michaels updates congress on enforcement efforts. http:// www.natlawreview.com/article/osha-chief-dr-david-michaels-updates-congress-enforcement-efforts. Published October 9, 2015.

179. Williams T. Key facts from "The dual mandate: Immigration enforcement and human trafficking". Institute for Policy Studies. <u>http://www.ips-dc.org/key_facts_from_the_dual_mandate_immigration_enforcement_and_human_trafficking/</u>. Published January 10, 2013. Accessed September 7, 2016.